

Test Report No.: 405160-26 Test Report Date: March 2013

DEVELOPMENT AND TESTING OF A TRANSITION FROM FREE-STANDING TO PINNED TEMPORARY CONCRETE BARRIER

by

Nauman M. Sheikh, P.E. Associate Research Engineer

and

Wanda L. Menges Research Specialist

Contract No.: T4541-AZ Test No.: 405160-26-1&2 Test Dates: 2011-11-16 & 2012-09-23

Sponsored by Roadside Safety Research Program Pooled Fund Study No. TPF-5(114)

TEXAS A&M TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE PROVING GROUND

Mailing Address: Roadside Safety & Physical Security Texas A&M University System 3135 TAMU College Station, TX 77843-3135 Located at: Texas A&M Riverside Campus Building 7091 3100 State Highway 47 Bryan, TX 77807



DISCLAIMER

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors who are solely responsible for the facts and accuracy of the data, and the opinions, findings and conclusions presented herein. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official views or policies of the Roadside Safety Research Program Pooled Fund Study, The Texas A&M University System, or Texas A&M Transportation Institute. This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation. In addition, the above listed agencies assume no liability for its contents or use thereof. The names of specific products or manufacturers listed herein do not imply endorsement of those products or manufacturers. The results reported herein apply only to the article being tested. The full-scale crash test was performed according to TTI Proving Ground quality procedures and according to the *MASH* guidelines and standards.

Wanda L. Menges, Research Specialist Deputy Quality Manager

Richard A. Zimmer, Senior Research Specialist Test Facility Manager Quality Manager Technical Manager

		Technical Report Documentation Page
1. Report No.	2. Government Accession No.	3. Recipient's Catalog No.
4. Title and Subtitle		5. Report Date
DEVELOPMENT AND TESTING OF A TRANSITION FROM FREE-STANDING TO PINNED TEMPORARY CONCRETE		March 2013
		6. Performing Organization Code
BARRIER		
7. Author(s)		8. Performing Organization Report No.
Nauman M. Sheikh and Wanda L. Menges		Test Report No. 405160-26
9. Performing Organization Name and Address		10. Work Unit No. (TRAIS)
Texas A&M Transportation Institute		
3135 TAMU		11. Contract or Grant No.
College Station, Texas 77843-3135		
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address		13. Type of Report and Period Covered
Washington State Department of Transportation		Test Report:
Transportation Building, MS 47372 Olympia, Washington 98504-7372		January 2012 – January 2013
		14. Sponsoring Agency Code

15. Supplementary Notes

Research Study Title: Transition Design for Anchored to Free Standing Temporary Concrete Barriers Name of Contacting Representative: Dave Olson

16. Abstract

In 2008, Texas A&M Transportation Institute develop a pinned down F-shape temporary concrete barrier system that provides limited lateral deflection (less than 6 inches) and can be used for bridge or roadway applications. The design was developed for use on concrete pavements or bridge decks as thin as seven inches. The objective of this research was to develop a transition design that can be used to transition from a free-standing F-shape temporary concrete barrier system to the pinned down F-shape barrier placed on concrete pavement or bridge deck.

The transition was developed in accordance with American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials' (AASHTO) *Manual for Assessing Safety Hardware (MASH)* test level 3 criteria, using the existing F-shape pinned concrete barrier design to the extent possible. The researchers developed a transition design concept and used full-scale finite element vehicular impact analysis to determine the critical impact point (CIP) of the transition design. The design was subsequently crash tested in accordance with *MASH* test 3-21 criteria (5000-lb vehicle, 62 mi/h, 25 degrees) at the critical impact point.

Results of the crash test were evaluated to determine that the transition from the free-standing to anchored F-shape barrier placed on concrete performed acceptably for *MASH* test level 3.

17. Key Words		18. Distribution Statement		
Anchored barrier, anchored to free-standing, bridge		Copyrighted. Not to be copied or reprinted without		
deck, F-Shape, FEA, finite element analysis, limited		consent from Roadside Safety Pooled Fund.		
deflection, low deflection barrier, LS-DYNA, MASH,			<u>/</u>	
pin and loop connection, portable concrete barrier,				
temporary barrier, temporary concrete barrier, Test				
Level 3, transition barrier, work zone barrier				
19. Security Classif.(of this report)	20. Security Classif.(of this page)		21. No. of Pages	22. Price
Unclassified	Unclassified Unclassified		100	

	SI* (MODERN	N METRIC) CONVER	RSION FACTORS	
		XIMATE CONVERSIONS		
Symbol	When You Know	Multiply By	To Find	Symbol
in ft yd mi	inches feet yards miles	LENGTH 25.4 0.305 0.914 1.61	millimeters meters meters kilometers	mm m m km
in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ²	square inches square feet square yard acres square miles	AREA 645.2 0.093 0.836 0.405 2.59	square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers	mm ² m ² m ² ha km ²
fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³	fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards	VOLUME 29.57 3.785 0.028 0.765 volumes greater than 1000 L shall I	milliliters liters cubic meters cubic meters	mL L m ³ m ³
oz Ib T	ounces pounds short tons (2000 lb)	MASS 28.35 0.454 0.907 TEMPERATURE (exact deg	grams kilograms megagrams (or "metric ton") g rees)	g kg Mg (or "t")
°F	Fahrenheit	5 (F-32)/9 or (F-32)/1.8 ILLUMINATION	Celsius	°C
fc fl	foot-candles foot-Lamberts	10.76 3.426	lux candela/m ²	lx cd/m²
lbf lbf/in ²	poundforce poundforce per square inc	ORCE and PRESSURE or S 4.45 h 6.89	newtons kilopascals	N kPa
	APPROX	MATE CONVERSIONS F	ROM SI UNITS	
Symbol	When You Know	Multiply By	To Find	Symbol
mm m m km	millimeters meters meters kilometers	LENGTH 0.039 3.28 1.09 0.621	inches feet yards miles	in ft yd mi
mm ² m ² m ² ha km ²	square millimeters square meters square meters hectares square kilometers	AREA 0.0016 10.764 1.195 2.47 0.386	square inches square feet square yards acres square miles	in ² ft ² yd ² ac mi ²
mL L m ³ m ³	milliliters liters cubic meters cubic meters	VOLUME 0.034 0.264 35.314 1.307	fluid ounces gallons cubic feet cubic yards	fl oz gal ft ³ yd ³
g kg Mg (or "t")	grams kilograms megagrams (or "metric tor		ounces pounds short tons (2000 lb)	oz Ib T
°C	Celsius	TEMPERATURE (exact deg 1.8C+32 ILLUMINATION	Fahrenheit	۴
lx cd/m ²	lux candela/m ²	0.0929 0.2919	foot-candles foot-Lamberts	fc fl
N kPa	newtons kilopascals	ORCE and PRESSURE or S 0.225 0.145	poundforce poundforce poundforce poundforce per square inch	lbf lbf/in²

*SI is the symbol for the International System of Units. Appropriate rounding should be made to comply with Section 4 of ASTM E380. (Revised March 2003)

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research project was performed under a pooled fund program between the State of Alaska Department of Transportation and Public Facilities, California Department of Transportation (Caltrans), Louisiana Department of Transportation and Development, Minnesota Department of Transportation, Pennsylvania Department of Transportation, Tennessee Department of Transportation, Texas Department of Transportation, Washington State Department of Transportation, West Virginia Department of Transportation, and the Federal Highway Administration. The authors acknowledge and appreciate their guidance and assistance.

Roadside Safety Research Pooled Fund Committee CONTACTS

Revised October 2012

ALASKA

Jeff C. Jeffers, P.E. Statewide Traffic & Safety Engineering Alaska Department of Transportation and Public Facilities 3132 Channel Drive P.O. Box 112500 Juneau, AK 99811-2500 (907) 465-8962 jeff.jeffers@alaska.gov

CALIFORNIA

John Jewell, P.E. Caltrans Office of Materials and Infrastructure Division of Research and Innovation 5900 Folsom Blvd Sacramento, CA 95819 (916) 227-5824 john_jewell@dot.ca.gov

LOUISIANA

Paul Fossier, P.E. Assistant Bridge Design Administrator Bridge and Structural Design Section Louisiana Transportation Center 1201 Capitol Road P.O. Box 94245 Baton Rouge, LA 79084-9245 (225) 379-1323 Paul.Fossier@la.gov Louisiana (continued)

Justin Peltier, P.E. Senior Engineer, Bridge Design (225) 379-1069 (225) 379-1786 (fax) Justin.Peltier@la.gov

MINNESOTA

Michael Elle, P.E. Design Standards Engineer Minnesota Department of Transportation 395 John Ireland Blvd, MS 696 St. Paul, MN 55155-1899 (651) 366-4622 <u>michael.elle@state.mn.us</u>

PENNSYLVANIA

Mark R. Burkhead, P.E. Standards & Criteria Engineer Pennsylvania Department of Transportation Bureau of Project Delivery 400 North Street Harrisburg, PA 17105 (717) 783-5110 (717) 705-2379 (fax) <u>mburkhead@pa.gov</u>

TENNESSEE

Jeff Jones Assistant Chief Engineer Tennessee Department of Transportation Suite 1300 James K. Polk State Office Building Nashville, TN 37243-0348 (615) 741-2221 Jeff.C.Jones@tn.gov

Ali Hangul, P.E. **Civil Engineering Manager** (615) 741-0840 (615) 532-7745 (fax) Ali.Hangul@tn.gov

TEXAS

Aurora (Rory) Meza, P.E. Roadway Design Section Director Texas Department of Transportation **Design** Division 125 East 11th Street Austin, TX 78701-2483 (512) 416-2678 Rory.Meza@txdot.gov

WASHINGTON

Dave Olson, Chair Design Policy, Standards, & Research Manager Washington State Department of Transportation P.O. Box 47329 Olympia, WA 98504-7329 (360) 705-7952 Olsonda@wsdot.wa.gov

Rhonda Brooks **Research Manager** (360) 705-7945 Brookrh@wsdot.wa.gov

WEST VIRGINIA

Donna J. Hardy, P.E. Mobility and Safety Engineer West Virginia Department of Transportation - Traffic Engineering Building 5, Room A-550 1900 Kanawha Blvd E. Charleston, WV 25305-0430 (304) 558-9576 Donna.J.Hardy@wv.gov

FEDERAL HIGHWAY **ADMINISTRATION**

Richard B. (Dick) Albin, P.E. Safety Engineer FHWA Resource Center Safety & Design **Technical Services Team** 711 South Capitol Blvd. Olympia, WA 98504 (303) 550-8804 Dick.Albin@dot.gov

William Longstreet Highway Engineer FHWA Office of Safety Design Room E71-107 1200 New Jersey Avenue, S.E. Washington, DC 20590 (202) 366-0087 Will.Longstreet@dot.gov

TEXAS A&M TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE

D. Lance Bullard, Jr., P.E. **Research Engineer** Roadside Safety & Physical Security Div. Texas A&M Transportation Institute Texas A&M University System College Station, TX 77843-3135 (979) 845-6153 L-Bullard@tamu.edu

Roger P. Bligh, Ph.D., P.E. **Research Engineer** (979) 845-4377 RBligh@tamu.edu

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Se	ection		<u>Page</u>
1.	INTR	RODUCTION	
	1.1	PROBLEM	
	1.2	BACKGROUND	
	1.3	OBJECTIVES/SCOPE OF RESEARCH	
	110		
2.	DESI	GN AND SIMULATION ANALYSIS	
	2.1	INTRODUCTION	
	2.2	TRANSITION DESIGN CONCEPT	
	2.3	CRITICAL IMPACT POINT	
3.	TEST	Γ REQUIREMENTS AND EVALUATION CRITERIA	9
	3.1	CRASH TEST MATRIX	9
	3.2	EVALUATION CRITERIA	9
		Γ CONDITIONS	
	4.1	TEST FACILITY	
	4.2	VEHICLE TOW AND GUIDANCE SYSTEM	
	4.3		
	4.3.	.1 Vehicle Instrumentation and Data Processing	
	4.3.		
	4.3.	.3 Photographic Instrumentation and Data Processing	
_			
5.		NSITION FROM FREE-STANDING BARRIER TO PINNED BARRIER	10
		ASH TEST 405160-26-2 (<i>MASH</i> TEST NO. 3-21)	
	5.1	TEST ARTICLE DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION	
	5.2	MATERIAL SPECIFICATIONS	
	5.3	TEST DESIGNATION AND ACTUAL IMPACT CONDITIONS	
	5.4	TEST VEHICLE	
	5.5	WEATHER CONDITIONS.	
	5.6	TEST DESCRIPTION	
	5.7	TEST ARTICLE AND COMPONENT DAMAGE	
	5.8	TEST VEHICLE DAMAGE	
	5.9	OCCUPANT RISK VALUES	
	5.10	ASSESSMENT OF TEST RESULTS	
	5.10	1 5	
	5.10	1	
	5.10	0.3 Vehicle Trajectory	
6.		MARY AND CONCLUSIONS	
	6.1	SUMMARY OF RESULTS	
	6.2	CONCLUSIONS	
	6.3	IMPLEMENTATION	

TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONTINUED)

Section		<u>Page</u>
REFERI	ENCES	33
APPEN	DIX A. TRANSITION FROM FREE-STANDING BARRIER TO PINNED	
BAR	RIER - CRASH TEST 405160-26-1 (MASH TEST NO. 3-21)	
A.1	TEST ARTICLE DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION	
A.2	MATERIAL SPECIFICATIONS	
A.3	TEST DESIGNATION AND ACTUAL IMPACT CONDITIONS	
A.4	TEST VEHICLE	
A.5	WEATHER CONDITIONS	
A.6	TEST DESCRIPTION	
A.7	TEST ARTICLE AND COMPONENT DAMAGE	46
A.8	TEST VEHICLE DAMAGE	50
A.9	OCCUPANT RISK VALUES	
A.10	ASSESSMENT OF TEST RESULTS	61
A.1	0.1 Structural Adequacy	61
A.1	0.2 Occupant Risk	
A.1	0.3 Vehicle Trajectory	
A.11	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS – CRASH TEST 405160-26-1	62
APPEN	DIX B. CRASH TEST 405160-26-2	65
B.1.	DETAILS OF PINNED BARRIER FOR TEST 405160-26-2	
B.2.	SUPPORTING CERTIFICATION DOCUMENTS FOR INSTALLATION	
	USED IN TEST 405160-26-1	
B.3.	VEHICLE PROPERTIES AND INFORMATION	74
B.4.	SEQUENTIAL PHOTOGRAPHS	
B.5.	VEHICLE ANGULAR DISPLACEMENTS	81
B.6.	VEHICLE ACCELERATIONS	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1.	Transition design concept and impact location	4
Figure 2.2.	Finite element model of the barrier system for determining CIP.	
Figure 2.3.	Simulation results (top view showing initial state and maximum barrier deflection).	
Figure 2.4.	Simulation results (vehicle stability and barrier performance for different	
8	impact locations).	7
Figure 5.1.	Layout of the transition from free-standing F-shape barrier to pinned F-shape	
e	barrier for test 405160-26-2.	. 15
Figure 5.2.	Transition from free-standing F-shape barrier to pinned F shape barrier	
C	prior to test 405160-26-2.	16
Figure 5.3.	Vehicle/installation geometrics for test 405160-26-2	. 18
Figure 5.4.	Vehicle before test 405160-26-2	
Figure 5.5.	Vehicle/installation positions after test 405160-26-2.	21
Figure 5.6.	Installation after test 405160-26-2.	
Figure 5.7.	Vehicle after test 405160-26-2	23
Figure 5.8.	Interior of vehicle for test 405160-26-2	24
Figure 5.9.	Summary of results for MASH test 3-21 on transition from the free-standing	
-	F-shape barrier to pinned F-shape barrier	25
Figure A.1.	Details of the F-shape barrier used in test 405160-26-1.	37
Figure A.2.	Transition from free-standing F-shape barrier to pinned F shape barrier	
	prior to test 405160-26-1.	
Figure A.3.	Vehicle/installation geometrics for test 405160-26-1	43
Figure A.4.	Sequential photographs for test 405160-26-1 (overhead and frontal views)	
Figure A.5.	Vehicle/installation positions after test 405160-26-1.	49
Figure A.6.	Installation after test 405160-26-1.	49
Figure A.7.	Vehicle after test 405160-26-1	. 50
Figure A.8.	Summary of results for MASH test 3-21 on transition from free-standing	
	F-shape barrier to pinned F-shape barrier	. 53
Figure A.9.	Vehicle angular displacements for test 405160-26-1	54
Figure A.10.	Vehicle longitudinal accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-1	
	(accelerometer located at center of gravity)	55
Figure A.11.	Vehicle lateral accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-1	
	(accelerometer located at center of gravity)	56
Figure A.12.	Vehicle vertical accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-1	
	(accelerometer located at center of gravity)	57
Figure A.13.	Vehicle longitudinal accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-1	
	(accelerometer located over rear axle)	58
Figure A.14.	Vehicle lateral accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-1	
	(accelerometer located over rear axle)	59
Figure A.15.	Vehicle vertical accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-1	
	(accelerometer located over rear axle)	60

LIST OF FIGURES (CONTINUED)

Page

Figure B.1.	Sequential photographs for test 405160-26-2 (overhead and frontal views)	78
Figure B.2.	Sequential photographs for test 405160-26-2 (rear view).	80
Figure B.3.	Vehicle angular displacements for test 405160-26-2	81
Figure B.4.	Vehicle longitudinal accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-2	
	(accelerometer located at center of gravity)	82
Figure B.5.	Vehicle lateral accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-2	
	(accelerometer located at center of gravity)	83
Figure B.6.	Vehicle vertical accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-2	
-	(accelerometer located at center of gravity)	84
Figure B.7.	Vehicle longitudinal accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-2	
C	(accelerometer located rear of CG)	85
Figure B.8.	Vehicle lateral accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-2	
C	(accelerometer located rear of CG).	86
Figure B.9.	Vehicle vertical accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-2	
2	(accelerometer located rear of CG)	87

LIST OF TABLES

Page

Table 6.1.	Performance evaluation summary for MASH test 3-21 on the transition	
	from free-standing F-shape barrier to pinned F-shape barrier in test	
	405160-26-2	31
Table A.1.	Vehicle properties for test 405160-26-1.	44
Table A.2.	Measurements of vehicle vertical CG for test 405160-26-1	45
Table A.3.	Exterior crush measurements for test 405160-26-1	51
Table A.4.	Occupant compartment measurements for test 405160-26-1.	52
Table A.5.	Performance evaluation summary for MASH test 3-21 on the transition	
	from free-standing F-shape barrier to pinned F-shape barrier in test	
	405160-26-1	63
Table B.1.	Vehicle properties for test 405160-26-2.	74
Table B.2.	Measurements of vehicle vertical CG for test 405160-26-2	
Table B.3.	Exterior crush measurements for test 405160-26-2.	
Table B.4.	Occupant compartment measurements for test 405160-26-2.	77

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 **PROBLEM**

TTI recently developed a pinned down F-shaped temporary concrete barrier system that provides limited lateral deflection (less than 6 inches) and can be used for bridge or roadway applications (1). The design was developed for use on concrete pavements or bridge decks as thin as seven inches. If this application is used on a roadway and bridge project, it is possible that a non-anchored free-standing barrier section will be used with the anchored section. A transition detail from the anchored to free-standing barrier is needed to prevent increased occupant risk or vehicle instability due to abrupt changes in barrier's lateral stiffness.

1.2 BACKGROUND

In 2008, TTI developed a restrained F-shaped temporary concrete barrier design that was easy to install and minimized damage to the bridge deck or concrete pavements (1). This restraint mechanism was developed for use on concrete bridge decks and pavements. It used 1.5-inch diameter steel pins that were dropped into inclined holes cast in the toe of the barrier segments. The pins passed through the holes in the barrier and continued short distance into the underlying concrete pavement, thus locking the barrier in place. The pinned barrier successfully passed the National Cooperative Highway Research Program (NCHRP) *Report 350* Test Level 3 requirements (2). The maximum permanent and dynamic barrier deflections were 5.76 inches and 11.52 inches, respectively. There was no significant damage to the underlying concrete pavement. The design has now been adopted by some of the participating pooled-fund states and there is a desire to develop a transition for using the pinned down barrier with the free-standing barrier.

In 2003, Midwest Roadside Safety Facility (MwRSF) developed a concrete bridge deck tie-down system for 12.5 ft long, F-shaped Kansas temporary barriers (*3*). Three anchor bolts were passed through the holes in the barrier and fastened to the bridge deck on the traffic side of the barrier. The maximum static and dynamic deflections were 3.5 inches and 11.3 inches, respectively. Later in 2005, MwRSF developed an *NCHRP Report 350* compliant tie down design for 12.5-ft long temporary concrete barriers with pin-and-loop type connection for use on asphalt pavements that are at least two inches thick (*4*). The barrier was installed at a 6-inch lateral offset from the edge of a ditch. This tie-down system used three 1.5-inch diameter steel pins that were driven down vertically through holes cast in each barrier segment. The pins were 3-ft long and pinned the barrier to the underlying asphalt pavement. The maximum static and dynamic deflections in the test were 11.1 inches and 21.8 inches, respectively.

In this same study, MwRSF also developed a transition from the free-standing 12.5-ft long temporary concrete barrier to the anchored temporary concrete barrier design developed earlier in 2003. The transition section comprised of four 12.5-ft long barrier segments in which steel pins were driven in through the holes in the barrier. The number of pins in the transition barrier segments was gradually reduced to transition from the anchored to the free standing

barrier. Barrier segment in the transition section of this design were placed on a 2-inch thick asphalt layer. The barrier was installed at a 6-inch lateral offset from the edge of a ditch. The maximum static and dynamic deflections in the test were 5.25 inches and 18.39 inches, respectively.

In 1999, California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) developed a pinning/staking configuration for its 20-ft long, NJ profile concrete barriers connected with a pin-and-loop type connection (5). The configuration met *NCHRP Report 350* evaluation criteria and consisted of four 1-inch diameter pins that were driven 16.5 inches vertically into the underlying asphalt pavement. Each barrier segment was pinned at its four corners. The barrier was tested in a median configuration and there was no ditch or slope behind the barrier. The maximum static and dynamic deflections of the system were 2.75 inches and 10 inches, respectively.

1.3 OBJECTIVES/SCOPE OF RESEARCH

The objective of this research was to develop a transition design that can be used to transition from a free-standing F-shape barrier (placed on concrete or asphalt pavement) to the pinned F-shape barrier placed on concrete. If it were determined during initial evaluation that a single transition design could not be achieved for placement on concrete and asphalt, the transition was to be developed for use with the free-standing and pinned barriers placed on concrete only.

The transition was developed in accordance with American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials' (AASHTO) *Manual for Assessing Safety Hardware (MASH)* test level 3 criteria (6), using the existing pinned concrete barrier design to the extent possible.

The researchers developed the transition design using finite element simulation analysis. The analysis was used to determine the critical impact point for the *MASH* test 3-21. In the first phase of the project, a transition design was developed and crash tested, but it failed to meet the *MASH* requirements. Results of the failed crash test have been included in appendix A for the purpose of documenting work performed under this project. Subsequent to the failed test, the researchers redesigned the transition and determined its critical impact point using finite element (FE) analysis. Details of the FE analysis are presented in chapter 2. The researchers then performed *MASH* test 3-21 (5000-lb vehicle, 62 mi/h, 25 degrees) with the transition design. Included in the main body of this report are the details of the installation used in the crash testing, details of the full-scale crash testing, and evaluation of the crash testing.

2. DESIGN AND SIMULATION ANALYSIS *

2.1 INTRODUCTION

In a separate research project, the researchers developed and crash tested an anchored F-shape temporary concrete barrier design for placement on asphalt (7). Component level testing performed under this project showed that three pins were needed to anchor the 12.5-ft long concrete barrier segment to asphalt. The existing design for anchoring the barrier on concrete however, requires two pins per 12.5-ft barrier segment. Due to the differences in the number of pins required to anchor the barriers on concrete and asphalt, it was determined that a single transition design could not be developed for placement on both concrete and asphalt. Thus in this project, the researchers focused on developing the transition design for placement on concrete pavement or deck only. The design developed in this project may be extended to use on asphalt after further evaluation through simulation and crash testing. However, within the budgetary constraints of the project, only placement on concrete could be evaluated.

A transition design was developed in the earlier phase of the project. However, this initial design failed to meet the crash test performance requirements of *MASH*. The vehicle in the test was redirected, but a high roll was induced during redirection, which resulted in the vehicle stopping on one of its side. Details of this failed test are included in appendix A. Subsequent to this test, the researchers redesigned the transition and conducted finite element analysis to find the critical impact point. This final design was crash tested and was successful in meeting the *MASH* test 3-21 criteria for transitions.

Described in this chapter are the details of the final transition's conceptual design and the full-scale impact analysis performed to determine the critical impact point (CIP) for crash testing.

2.2 TRANSITION DESIGN CONCEPT

One of desired objectives was to keep the transition design relatively simply by not attaching external members to the barrier segments (such as bolting thrie beam rail elements to the face of the barriers, attaching other brackets or straps, etc.). The transition concept was thus simple with one standard F-shape barrier segment in the transition region that connected the free-standing and the anchored barrier segment (see figure 2.1). The design of the transition segment was kept exactly the same as the anchored segments. However, only one pin was used in the transition segment to pin it to the underlying concrete, near the anchored barrier end of the installation. The drop-pin used in the transition segment was the same 1½-inch diameter pin used to anchor the existing pinned-down barrier.

^{*} TTI Proving Ground's A2LA scope of accreditation does not include simulation analysis.



Figure 2.1. Transition design concept and impact location.

2.3 CRITICAL IMPACT POINT

MASH recommends using FE analysis to determine the CIP for a transition design. The researchers developed a full-scale FE model of the barrier system to perform *MASH* Test 3-21 impact simulations. The barrier system was comprised of the 12.5-ft long F-shape free-standing barrier segments, one transition segment with one drop-pin, and the standard anchored barrier system with two drop-pins per segment (see figure 2.2). The pinned-down anchored barrier segments were placed adjacent to the ground's edge, simulating a bridge deck drop-off. The free-standing segments and the transition segment were placed on the ground with no drop-off on the field side.

The barrier segments were modeled using mostly rigid material representation. However, regions around the drop-pin holes where pins were passed to anchor the barrier were modeled using concrete material model with material failure capabilities. Holes in the underlying concrete pavement that host the steel drop-pin were also modeled using concrete material properties with material failure capabilities. The connections between adjacent barrier segments were modeled with elastic-plastic material properties. The vehicle model used in the simulations was developed by National Crash Analysis Center (NCAC) and incorporated various modifications made by TTI to improve its performance and robustness.



Figure 2.2. Finite element model of the barrier system for determining CIP.

Vehicle impact simulations were performed at the four impact locations shown in figure 2.1 to determine the most critical impact point for use in crash testing. The first impact point was selected just upstream of the anchoring pin in the transition segment. The second, third and fourth impact points were spaced 6.25 ft apart. Each of the simulations was performed using test 3-21 impact conditions of *MASH* (i.e., 5000-lb pickup truck vehicle, impacting the installation at 62.2 mi/h and 25 degrees). The objective of these simulations was to determine the critical impact point, at which the vehicle would have the greatest instability due to pocketing of the barrier system. Results of the impact analyses are shown in figures 2.3 and 2.4.

In addition to the four simulation cases described above, a simulation was performed with the vehicle impacting the existing pinned-down anchored concrete barrier system. Results of this simulation were used to compare the performance of the transition impact simulations.

Simulation results for impacts closer to the standard anchored barrier (impact point 1 and 2) indicated that the barriers do not deflect significantly (see simulation results for impact points 1 and 2 in figure 2.3). The behavior of the barrier for impact points 1 and 2 was very similar to impact with standard anchored barrier installation (also shown in figure 2.3). Vehicle impacts closer to the standard anchored barrier do not allow enough interaction with the vehicle for the barrier segments in the free standing and the transition region to deflect laterally. Thus, vehicle pocketing cannot be evaluated with these impact points. For this reason, it was concluded that impact points 1 and 2 are not the critical impact points.

Simulation results for impact points 3 and 4, which are farther upstream from the start of the standard anchored barrier segments, showed greater lateral barrier deflection than impact points 1 and 2. For impact point 3, the vehicle had significant chance of pocketing due to the lateral deflection of the barriers. Even though the lateral deflection increased for impact point 4, the performance at this point resembled that of a free standing barrier, as opposed to a transition. For this reason, it can be seen in figure 2.4 that the vehicle is more stable for impact point 4 compared to impact point 3.

Since impact point 3 offers greatest chance of vehicle instability and pocketing, it was selected as the CIP for the transition design. This impact point was 14.67 ft upstream from the joint between the transition barrier segment and the anchored barrier segment. A crash test was subsequently performed at this impact point, and the details are presented in the following chapters.



Figure 2.3. Simulation results (top view showing initial state and maximum barrier deflection).



Figure 2.4. Simulation results (vehicle stability and barrier performance for different impact locations).

3. TEST REQUIREMENTS AND EVALUATION CRITERIA

3.1 CRASH TEST MATRIX

According to *MASH*, two tests are recommended to evaluate longitudinal barriers to test level three (TL-3) and are as described below.

MASH Test Designation 3-20: A 2425 lb vehicle impacting the critical impact point (CIP) in the transition at a speed of 62 mi/h and an angle of 20 degrees.

MASH Test Designation 3-21: A 5000 lb pickup truck impacting the CIP in the transition at a speed of 62 mi/h and an angle of 25 degrees.

Test 3-21 of *MASH* (5000-lb pickup, 62 mi/h, 25 degrees) was performed to evaluate the performance of the transition design. It is argued that test 3-20 with the lighter 2425-lb vehicle is not needed. Due to higher impact energy, the test with the 5000-lb pickup truck will result in greater lateral barrier deflection and vehicle pocketing and help evaluate the transition of the anchoring pins and connection. An impact resulting from the lighter, 2425-lb passenger car under same impact speed and angle will not result in any increased barrier deflection or vehicle pocketing, nor will it impart a higher force on the barrier to evaluate transition of the anchoring scheme and barrier connection. Thus, the test was conducted with the 5000-lb pickup only.

Target CIP for the *MASH* test 3-21 on the transition was determined to be 14.67 ft upstream of the joint between the transition segment and the standard anchored pinned-down barrier segment.

The crash test and data analysis procedures were in accordance with guidelines presented in *MASH*. Chapter 4 presents brief descriptions of these procedures.

3.2 EVALUATION CRITERIA

The crash test was evaluated in accordance with the criteria presented in *MASH*. The performance of the transition is judged on the basis of three factors: structural adequacy, occupant risk, and post impact vehicle trajectory. Structural adequacy is judged upon the ability of the transition to contain and redirect the vehicle, or bring the vehicle to a controlled stop in a predictable manner. Occupant risk criteria evaluates the potential risk of hazard to occupants in the impacting vehicle, and to some extent other traffic, pedestrians, or workers in construction zones, if applicable. Post impact vehicle trajectory is assessed to determine potential for secondary impact with other vehicles or fixed objects, creating further risk of injury to occupants of the impacting vehicle and/or risk of injury to occupants in other vehicles. The appropriate safety evaluation criteria from table 5.1 of *MASH* were used to evaluate the crash test reported herein, and are listed in further detail under the assessment of the crash test.

4. TEST CONDITIONS

4.1 TEST FACILITY

The full-scale crash test reported herein was performed at Texas A&M Transportation Institute (TTI) Proving Ground. TTI Proving Ground is an International Standards Organization (ISO) 17025 accredited laboratory with American Association for Laboratory Accreditation (A2LA) Mechanical Testing certificate 2821.01. The full-scale crash test was performed according to TTI Proving Ground quality procedures and according to the *MASH* guidelines and standards.

The test facilities at the TTI Proving Ground consist of a 2000 acre complex of research and training facilities situated 10 miles northwest of the main campus of Texas A&M University. The site, formerly an Air Force Base, has large expanses of concrete runways and parking aprons well suited for experimental research and testing in the areas of vehicle performance and handling, vehicle-roadway interaction, durability and efficacy of highway pavements, and safety evaluation of roadside safety hardware. The site selected for the installation of the transition is along the surface of a wide out-of-service apron. The apron consists of an unreinforced jointed concrete pavement in 12.5 ft \times 15 ft blocks nominally 6-8 inches deep. The apron is over 60 years old and the joints have some displacement, but are otherwise flat and level.

4.2 VEHICLE TOW AND GUIDANCE SYSTEM

The test vehicle was towed into the test installation using a steel cable guidance and reverse tow system. A steel cable for guiding the test vehicle was tensioned along the path, anchored at each end, and threaded through an attachment to the front wheel of the test vehicle. An additional steel cable was connected to the test vehicle, passed around a pulley near the impact point, through a pulley on the tow vehicle, and then anchored to the ground such that the tow vehicle moved away from the test site. A two-to-one speed ratio between the test and tow vehicle existed with this system. Just prior to impact with the installation, the test vehicle was released to be free-wheeling and unrestrained. The vehicle remained free-wheeling, i.e., no steering or braking inputs, until the vehicle cleared the immediate area of the test site, at which time brakes on the vehicle were activated to bring it to a safe and controlled stop.

4.3 DATA ACQUISITION SYSTEMS

4.3.1 Vehicle Instrumentation and Data Processing

The test vehicle was instrumented with a self-contained, on-board data acquisition system. The signal conditioning and acquisition system is a 16-channel, Tiny Data Acquisition System (TDAS) Pro produced by Diversified Technical Systems, Inc. The accelerometers, that measure the x, y, and z axis of vehicle acceleration, are strain gauge type with linear millivolt output proportional to acceleration. Angular rate sensors, measuring vehicle roll, pitch, and yaw rates, are ultra-small size, solid state units designs for crash test service. The TDAS Pro hardware and software conform to the latest SAE J211, Instrumentation for Impact Test. Each of

the 16 channels is capable of providing precision amplification, scaling and filtering based on transducer specifications and calibrations. During the test, data are recorded from each channel at a rate of 10,000 values per second with a resolution of one part in 65,536. Once recorded, the data are backed up inside the unit by internal batteries should the primary battery cable be severed. Initial contact of the pressure switch on the vehicle bumper provides a time zero mark as well as initiating the recording process. After each test, the data are downloaded from the TDAS Pro unit into a laptop computer at the test site. The raw data are then processed by the Test Risk Assessment Program (TRAP) software to produce detailed reports of the test results. Each of the TDAS Pro units are returned to the factory annually for complete recalibration. Accelerometers and rate transducers are also calibrated annually with traceability to the National Institute for Standards and Technology. Acceleration data is measured with an expanded uncertainty of $\pm 1.7\%$ at a confidence fracture of 95% (k=2).

TRAP uses the data from the TDAS Pro to compute occupant/compartment impact velocities, time of occupant/compartment impact after vehicle impact, and the highest 10-millisecond (ms) average ridedown acceleration. TRAP calculates change in vehicle velocity at the end of a given impulse period. In addition, maximum average accelerations over 50-ms intervals in each of the three directions are computed. For reporting purposes, the data from the vehicle-mounted accelerometers are filtered with a 60-Hz digital filter, and acceleration versus time curves for the longitudinal, lateral, and vertical directions are plotted using TRAP.

TRAP uses the data from the yaw, pitch, and roll rate transducers to compute angular displacement in degrees at 0.0001-s intervals and then plots yaw, pitch, and roll versus time. These displacements are in reference to the vehicle-fixed coordinate system with the initial position and orientation of the vehicle-fixed coordinate systems being initial impact. Rate of rotation data is measured with an expanded uncertainty of $\pm 0.7\%$ at a confidence factor of 95% (k=2).

4.3.2 Anthropomorphic Dummy Instrumentation

Use of a dummy in the 2270P vehicle is optional according to *MASH*, and there was no dummy used in the tests with the 2270P vehicle.

4.3.3 Photographic Instrumentation and Data Processing

Photographic coverage of the test included three high-speed cameras: one overhead with a field of view perpendicular to the ground and directly over the impact point; one placed behind the installation at an angle; and a third placed to have a field of view parallel to and aligned with the installation at the downstream end. A flashbulb activated by pressure-sensitive tape switches was positioned on the impacting vehicle to indicate the instant of contact with the installation and was visible from each camera. The films from these high-speed cameras were analyzed on a computer-linked motion analyzer to observe phenomena occurring during the collision and to obtain time-event, displacement, and angular data. A mini-DV camera and still cameras recorded and documented conditions of the test vehicle and installation before and after the test.

5. TRANSITION FROM FREE-STANDING BARRIER TO PINNED BARRIER - CRASH TEST 405160-26-2 (*MASH* TEST NO. 3-21)

5.1 TEST ARTICLE DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION

The overall length of the test installation was 201 ft-3 inches. The installation was comprised of 16 12 ft-6 inch long precast concrete barrier segments that were 32 inches tall and had the standard "F" profile. The first eight barrier segments (1 to 8) were free-standing and were not anchored to the underlying concrete pavement. Barrier segment 9 was pinned to the underlying concrete pavement using a single 1-1/2 inch diameter steel pin that passed through the inclined slotted hole near the downstream end of the segment. Segments 12 through 16 were pinned using two 1-1/2-inch diameter steel pins per barrier segment. These pins were passed through the inclined slotted holes near each end of the segments.

The precast concrete barrier segments were 32 inches tall, 24 inches wide at the base, and 9-1/2 inches wide at the top. Horizontal barrier reinforcement consisted of eight #4 bars spaced along the height of the barrier within the vertical reinforcement. Vertical barrier reinforcement consisted of rebar stirrups of #4 bars spaced 18 inches on centers. These vertical bars were bent to conform to the F-shape barrier profile and to provide sufficient concrete cover for the faces of the barrier and the drainage scupper at the base of the barrier. For the last two vertical stirrup bars adjacent to the ends of the barrier segments, the spacing was reduced to 17-7/8 inches and 7-7/8 inches, respectively.

Adjacent precast barrier segments were connected using a pin-and-loop type connection. The loops were made of 0.75-inch diameter round stock steel. The outer diameter of the loops was 3.5 inches and they extended 2 inches outside the end of the barrier segment. The barrier connection was comprised of two sets of three loops. When installed, the distance between adjacent barrier segments was 1/4 inch. A 1-inch diameter, 30-inch long connecting pin was inserted between the loops to establish the connection. A 2-inch diameter and 1/4-inch thick washer was welded 3/4 inch from the top of the connecting pin. The pin was held in place by resting the washer on insets built into the faces of adjacent barriers.

Three 1-7/8-inch wide and 4-inch long slotted holes, inclined 40 degrees from the ground, were cast into the toe of each precast barrier segment. These slotted holes started from the traffic face of the barrier and exited near its bottom centerline. Two of the slotted holes were positioned 16 inches away from each end of the barrier segment and were used for anchoring the barrier to the underlying concrete pavement. The third slotted hole was positioned in the middle of the barrier segment, but was not used for anchoring any of the barrier segments.

Once the precast barrier segments were positioned in place, the slotted holes in the barrier toes were used as a guide to drill holes in the underlying concrete pavement for each of the pinning location. These holes were drilled using a 1-3/4-inch diameter drill bit. After the holes were drilled, a 1-1/2-inch diameter, 21-3/8-inch long anchoring pin was passed through each of the slotted holes at a pinning location. The top of each anchoring pin had a $\frac{1}{2}$ -inch thick, 4-inch × 4-inch ASTM A36 steel plate cover welded to it. The plate covers were welded at a 5-degree

angle from the vertical so that they matched the profile of the barrier's toe when installed. The concrete pavement underneath the barrier was unreinforced and was nominally six inches thick.

Inside the F-shape barrier segments, a 22-inch long U-shaped #4 bar was diagonally placed at the location of each slotted hole. The U-shaped bar circumvented the slot to reinforce the concrete around it and to resist pullout of the anchoring pin in the event of concrete failure in the vicinity of the slotted hole.

The F-shape temporary concrete barrier segments used in the test installation were donated by WASKEY. The drawing and photos of the test installation are shown in figures 5.1 and 5.2, respectively. Detailed drawings of the test installation are presented in appendix B.1.

5.2 MATERIAL SPECIFICATIONS

All rebar reinforcement was grade 60 steel material. The loops for the connecting pin, the anchoring pins, and the washers welded on top of the anchoring pins were A36 steel. The connecting pin between adjacent barrier segments was A572 grade 50 steel. Certifications for different materials used are included in appendix B.2.



Figure 5.1. Layout of the transition from free-standing F-shape barrier to pinned F-shape barrier for test 405160-26-2.



Figure 5.2. Transition from free-standing F-shape barrier to pinned F shape barrier prior to test 405160-26-2.

5.3 TEST DESIGNATION AND ACTUAL IMPACT CONDITIONS

MASH test 3-21 involves a 2270P vehicle weighing 5000 lb ±100 lb and impacting the transition at an impact speed of 62.2 mi/h ±2.5 mi/h and an angle of 25 degrees ±1.5 degrees. The target CIP was 14.67 ft upstream of the joint 9-10 of the barrier installation. CIP was determined using finite element analysis and the details are presented in chapter 2. The 2007 Dodge Ram 1500 used in the test weighed 4999 lb and the actual impact speed and angle were 61.1 mi/h and 25.4 degrees, respectively. The actual impact point was 15.0 ft upstream of the joint between the 9th and 10th barrier segment. Target impact severity (IS) was 115.2 kip-ft, and the actual IS was 114.8 kip-ft. IS not less than 8 percent of the target value is acceptable under *MASH*.

5.4 TEST VEHICLE

A 2007 Dodge Ram 1500 pickup truck, shown in figures 5.3 and 5.4, was used for the crash test. Test inertia weight of the vehicle was 4999 lb, and its gross static weight was 4999 lb. The height to the lower edge of the vehicle front bumper was 13.75 inches, and the height to the upper edge of the front bumper was 25.38 inches. The height to the center of gravity was 28.12 inches. Additional dimensions and information on the vehicle are given in appendix B.3, tables B.1 and B.2. The vehicle was directed into the installation using the cable reverse tow and guidance system, and was released to be free-wheeling and unrestrained just prior to impact.

5.5 WEATHER CONDITIONS

The crash test was performed the morning of September 24, 2012. Weather conditions at the time of testing were: Wind speed: 6 mi/h; wind direction:

330 degrees with respect to the vehicle (vehicle was traveling in a northwesterly direction); temperature: 64°F; relative humidity: 97 percent.



5.6 TEST DESCRIPTION

The 2007 Dodge Ram pickup, traveling at an impact speed of 61.1 mi/h, impacted the transition 15.0 ft upstream of joint 9-10 of the barrier system at an impact angle of 25.4 degrees. At approximately 0.027 s, segments 8 and 9 began to deflect towards the field side, and at 0.041 s, the vehicle began to redirect. Segment 7 began to move downstream at 0.064 s, and segment 10 began to deflect towards the field side at 0.117 s. The vehicle began to travel parallel with the barrier at 0.188 s, and the rear of the vehicle contacted the barrier at 0.261 s. At 0.379 s, the vehicle lost contact with the barrier traveling at an exit speed and angle of 49.8 mi/h and 14.1 degrees, respectively. Brakes on the vehicle were applied at 2.4 s after impact, and the vehicle subsequently came to rest 157 ft downstream of impact and 7 ft towards traffic lanes. Sequential photographs of the test period are shown in appendix B.4, figures B.1 and B.2.



Figure 5.3. Vehicle/installation geometrics for test 405160-26-2.



Figure 5.4. Vehicle before test 405160-26-2.

5.7 TEST ARTICLE AND COMPONENT DAMAGE

Damage to the transition installation is shown in figures 5.5 and 5.6. The downstream ends of segments 1 through 4 deflected downstream 1.0 inch, 1.5 inches, 2.0 inches and 2.25 inches, respectively. Segment 5 moved downstream 3.0 inches and toward the traffic side 5.0 inches. Segment 6 moved downstream 6.0 inches and 8.0 inches toward the field side. Segment 7 moved downstream 3.0 inches and 30.0 inches toward the field side. Segment 8 moved 44.0 inches toward the field side. Segment 9 deflected toward the field side 9.0 inches and upstream 3.0 inches. Segment 10 deflected toward the field side 1.0 inch and upstream 1.0 inch. Segment 11 moved upstream 0.5 inch. Moderate concrete damage occurred at the adjacent ends of segments 8 and 9, and significant damage to the adjacent ends of segments 9 and 10. The pins on the adjacent ends of segment 9 and 10 pulled upward 5.0 inches and were deformed. The downstream pin on segment 10 pulled upward 0.75 inch. Working width was 5.8 ft, vehicle penetration was 4.7 ft, maximum dynamic deflection during the test was 3.9 ft, and maximum permanent deformation was 3.7 ft.

5.8 TEST VEHICLE DAMAGE

Damage to the 2270P vehicle is shown in figure 5.7. The upper and the lower ball joints on the left side broke and left frame rail was deformed. Also damaged were the front bumper, grill, left front fender, left front door, left rear door, left front and left rear tires and wheel rims, left exterior bed, rear bumper and tailgate. Maximum exterior crush to the vehicle was 15.0 inches in the side plane at the left front corner at bumper height. Maximum occupant compartment deformation was 1.5 inches in the lateral area across the cab at hip height. Photographs of the interior of the vehicle are shown in figure 5.8 Exterior vehicle crush and occupant compartment measurements are shown in appendix B.3, tables B.3 and B.4.

5.9 OCCUPANT RISK VALUES

Data from the accelerometer located at the vehicle center of gravity were digitized for evaluation of occupant risk. In the longitudinal direction, the occupant impact velocity was 13.4 ft/s at 0.106 s, the highest 0.010-s occupant ridedown acceleration was 5.7 Gs from 0.261 to 0.271 s, and the maximum 0.050-s average acceleration was -7.1 Gs between 0.011 and 0.061 s. In the lateral direction, the occupant impact velocity was 19.4 ft/s at 0.106 s, the highest 0.010-s occupant ridedown acceleration was 13.3 Gs from 0.261 to 0.271 s, and the maximum 0.050-s average was 9.1 Gs between 0.240 and 0.290 s. Theoretical Head Impact Velocity (THIV) was 25.9 km/h or 7.2 m/s at 0.103 s; Post-Impact Head Decelerations (PHD) was 14.5 Gs between 0.262 and 0.272 s; and Acceleration Severity Index (ASI) was 1.14 between 0.011 and 0.061 s. These data and other pertinent information from the test are summarized in figure 5.9. Vehicle angular displacements and accelerations versus time traces are presented in appendix B.5, figure B.3 and Appendix B.6, figures B.3 through B.9, respectively.



Figure 5.5. Vehicle/installation positions after test 405160-26-2.



Figure 5.6. Installation after test 405160-26-2.



Figure 5.7. Vehicle after test 405160-26-2.



Before Test



After Test

Figure 5.8. Interior of vehicle for test 405160-26-2.


25

General Information	Impact Conditions
Test Agency Texas A&M Transportation Institute	(TTI) Špeed61.1 mi/h
Test Standard Test No MASH Test 3-21	Angle25.4 degrees
TTI Test No 405160-26-2	Location/Orientation15.0 ft upstrm
Date September 24, 2012	joint 9-10
Test Article	Impact Severity
TypeTransition	Exit Conditions
Name Transition from free-standing F-shap	e Speed49.8 mi/h
barrier to pinned F-shape barrier	Angle14.1 degrees
Installation Length 201.25 ft	Occupant Risk Values
Material or Key Elements	Impact Velocity
	Longitudinal13.4 ft/s
	Lateral19.4 ft/s
Soil Type and Condition Concrete Surface, Dry	Ridedown Accelerations
Test Vehicle	Longitudinal5.7 G
Type/Designation 2270P	Lateral13.3 G
Make and Model 2007 Dodge Ram 1500 Pickup	THIV25.9 km/h
Curb 4797 lb	PHD14.5 G
Test Inertial 4999 lb	ASI1.14
Dummy	Max. 0.050-s Average
Gross Static 4999 lb	Longitudinal7.1 G
	Lateral9.1 G
	Vertical3.3 G

Post-Impact Trajectory

Stopping Distance	157 ft dwnstrm
11 0	7 ft twd traffic
Vehicle Stability	
Maximum Yaw Angle	39 degrees
Maximum Pitch Angle	17 degrees
Maximum Roll Angle	20 degrees
Vehicle Snagging	No
Vehicle Pocketing	No
Test Article Deflections	
Dynamic	3.9 ft
Permanent	
Working Width	5.8 ft
Vehicle Intrusion	
Vehicle Damage	
VDS	11LFQ5
CDC	11FLEW4
Max. Exterior Deformation	15.0 inches
OCDI	LF0020000
Max. Occupant Compartment	
Deformation	1.5 inches

Figure 5.9. Summary of results for MASH test 3-21 on transition from the free-standing F-shape barrier to pinned F-shape barrier.

5.10 ASSESSMENT OF TEST RESULTS

An assessment of the test was made based on the following applicable *MASH* safety evaluation criteria.

5.10.1 Structural Adequacy

- A. Test article should contain and redirect the vehicle or bring the vehicle to a controlled stop; the vehicle should not penetrate, underride, or override the installation although controlled lateral deflection of the test article is acceptable.
- <u>Results</u>: The transition from the free-standing F-shape barrier to pinned F-shape barrier placed on concrete contained and redirected the 2270P vehicle. The vehicle did not penetrate, underride, or override the installation. Maximum dynamic deflection of the barrier during the test was 3.7 ft. (PASS)

5.10.2 Occupant Risk

- D. Detached elements, fragments, or other debris from the test article should not penetrate or show potential for penetrating the occupant compartment, or present an undue hazard to other traffic, pedestrians, or personnel in a work zone. Deformation of, or intrusions into, the occupant compartment should not exceed limits set forth in Section 5.3 and Appendix E of MASH. (roof ≤4.0 inches; windshield = ≤3.0 inches; side windows = no shattering by test article structural member; wheel/foot well/toe pan ≤9.0 inches; forward of A-pillar ≤12.0 inches; front side door area above seat ≤9.0 inches; front side door below seat ≤12.0 inches; floor pan/transmission tunnel area ≤12.0 inches).
- Results:No detached elements, fragment, or other debris were present to penetrate or
to show potential for penetrating the occupant compartment, or to present
hazard to others in the area. (PASS)
Maximum occupant compartment deformation was 1.5 inches in the lateral
area across the cab at hip height. (PASS)
- *F.* The vehicle should remain upright during and after collision. The maximum roll and pitch angles are not to exceed 75 degrees.
- <u>Results</u>: The 2270P vehicle remained upright during and after the collision event. Maximum roll and pitch angles were 20 degrees and 17 degrees, respectively. (PASS)

H. Occupant impact velocities should satisfy the following: <u>Longitudinal and Lateral Occupant Impact Velocity</u> <u>Preferred</u> <u>30 ft/s</u> <u>40 ft/s</u>

<u>Results</u>: Longitudinal occupant impact velocity was 13.4 ft/s, and lateral occupant impact velocity was 19.4 ft/s. (PASS)

<i>I</i> .	Occupant ridedown accelerations should satisfy the following:			
	Longitudinal and Lateral Occupant Ridedown Accelerations			
	<u>Preferred</u> <u>Maximum</u>			
	15.0 Gs	20.49 Gs		

<u>Results</u>: Longitudinal ridedown acceleration was 5.7 G, and lateral ridedown acceleration was 13.3 G. (PASS)

5.10.3 Vehicle Trajectory

For redirective devices, the vehicle shall exit the barrier within the exit box (not less than 32.8 ft.

<u>Result</u>: The 2270P vehicle exited within the exit box. (PASS)

6. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

6.1 SUMMARY OF RESULTS

The transition from the free-standing F-shape barrier to pinned F-shape barrier placed on concrete contained and redirected the 2270P vehicle. The vehicle did not penetrate, underride, or override the installation. Maximum dynamic deflection of the barrier during the test was 3.7 ft. No detached elements, fragment, or other debris were present to penetrate or to show potential for penetrating the occupant compartment, or to present hazard to others in the area. Maximum occupant compartment deformation was 1.5 inches in the lateral area across the cab at hip height. The 2270P vehicle remained upright during and after the collision event. Maximum roll and pitch angles were 20 degrees and 17 degrees, respectively. Occupant risk factors were within limits specified in *MASH*. The 2270P vehicle exited within the exit box.

6.2 CONCLUSIONS

According to the *MASH* criteria required for test 3-21 for transitions shown in table 6.1, the transition from the free-standing to anchored F-shape barrier placed on concrete performed acceptably.

6.3 IMPLEMENTATION^{*}

The transition design developed and crash tested in this research was developed for use on concrete pavement or bridge decks. This design should not be used on asphalt pavement without further evaluation through crash testing and/or detailed finite element analysis.

The length of the barrier segments used in the test installation was 12.5 feet. The layout of the transition is shown in figure 5.1. A single transition segment was placed between the free-standing barrier (with no anchoring pins), and the fully anchored pinned down barrier (with two anchoring pins). The design of the transition segment was kept the same as the pinned down anchored barrier system for simplicity and to minimize inventory requirements for user agencies. The only difference in the transition segment was that it was pinned using a single pin instead of two pins per segment used in the standard pinned-down anchored barrier system.

While the crash tested design used a 12.5 ft long transition segment, the user agencies may use longer transition segments to retain simplicity of the design and reduced inventory requirements. Due to higher mass, the longer barrier segment is not expected to result in greater barrier deflection and vehicle pocketing. Thus using transition segment lengths greater than 12.5 ft to match the segment length of the free standing and anchored barrier systems should be acceptable, and is not expected to deteriorate the performance of the transition. In using longer segment lengths, it should however be ensured that the anchoring pin in the transition segment is

^{*} TTI Proving Ground's A2LA scope of accreditation covers accreditation for crash testing and does not include implementation recommendations. Recommendations for implementation were developed by the research engineer.

placed at the same distance from the adjacent joint as tested herein. Altering pin distance from the joint can change the performance of the anchoring scheme, and therefore should not be done without further evaluation.

Table 6.1. Performance evaluation summary for MASH test 3-21 on the transition from free-standing F-shape barrierto pinned F-shape barrier in test 405160-26-2.

Tes	t Agency: Texas A&M Transportation Institute	Test No.: 405160-26-2	Test Date: 2012-09-24
	MASH Test 3-21 Evaluation Criteria	Test Results	Assessment
<u>Stru</u> A.	<u>actural Adequacy</u> Test article should contain and redirect the vehicle or bring the vehicle to a controlled stop; the vehicle should not penetrate, underride, or override the installation although controlled lateral deflection of the test article is acceptable	The transition from the free-standing F-shape barrier placed on concrete to pinned F-shape barrier placed on pavement contained and redirected the 2270P vehicle. The vehicle did not penetrate, underride, or override the installation. Maximum dynamic deflection of the barrier during the test was 3.7 ft.	Pass
Occ	cupant Risk		
D.	Detached elements, fragments, or other debris from the test article should not penetrate or show potential for penetrating the occupant compartment, or present an undue hazard to other traffic, pedestrians, or personnel in a work zone.	No detached elements, fragment, or other debris were present to penetrate or to show potential for penetrating the occupant compartment, or to present hazard to others in the area.	Pass
	Deformations of, or intrusions into, the occupant compartment should not exceed limits set forth in Section 5.3 and Appendix E of MASH.	Maximum occupant compartment deformation was 1.5 inches in the lateral area across the cab at hip height.	Pass
<i>F</i> .	The vehicle should remain upright during and after collision. The maximum roll and pitch angles are not to exceed 75 degrees.	The 2270P vehicle remained upright during and after the collision event. Maximum roll and pitch angles were 20 degrees and 17 degrees, respectively.	Pass
Н.	Longitudinal and lateral occupant impact velocities should fall below the preferred value of 30 ft/s, or at least below the maximum allowable value of 40 ft/s.	Longitudinal occupant impact velocity was 13.4 ft/s, and lateral occupant impact velocity was 19.4 ft/s.	Pass
Ι.	Longitudinal and lateral occupant ridedown accelerations should fall below the preferred value of 15.0 Gs, or at least below the maximum allowable value of 20.49 Gs.	Longitudinal ridedown acceleration was 5.7 G, and lateral ridedown acceleration was 13.3 G.	Pass
<u>Veł</u>	nicle Trajectory For redirective devices, the vehicle shall exit the barrier within the exit box (not less than 32.8 ft).	The 2270P vehicle exited within the exit box.	Pass

REFERENCES

- Sheikh, N.M., Bligh, R.P., and Menges, W.L. (2008). "<u>Crash Testing and Evaluation of the 12 ft Pinned F-shape Temporary Barrier</u>." Test Report No. 405160-3-1/2a, Texas Transportation Institute, College Station, Texas.
- Ross, Jr., H.E., Sicking, D.L., Zimmer, R.A. and Michie, J.D. (1993) "<u>Recommended</u> <u>Procedures for the Safety Performance Evaluation of Highway Features</u>," National Cooperative Highway Research Program *Report 350*, Transportation Research Board, National Research Council, Washington, D.C..
- Polivka, K.A., Faller, R.K., Rohde, J.R., Holloway, J.C., Bielenberg, B.W., and Sicking, D.L. (2003). "Development and Evaluation of a Tie-Down System for the Redesigned F-Shape Concrete Temporary Barrier." TRP-03-134-03, Midwest Roadside Safety Facility, Nebraska.
- 4. Bielenberg, B.W., Reid, J.D., Faller, R.K., Rohde, J.R., and Sicking, D.L. (2006). "Tiedowns and Transitions for Temporary Concrete Barriers." Transportation Research Record, TRR 1984.
- Jewel, J., Weldon, G., and Peter, R. (1999). "<u>Compliance Crash Testing of K-Rail Used in</u> <u>Semi-Permanent Installations</u>." Report No. 59-680838, Division of Materials Engineering and Testing Services, CALTRANS, Sacramento, CA.
- 6. AASHTO (2009). Manual for Assessing Safety Hardware. Washington, DC, American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials.
- Sheikh, N.M. and Menges, W.L. (2012). "Development and Testing of Anchored Temporary Concrete Barrier for Use on Asphalt." Test Report No. 405160-25-1, Texas Transportation Institute, College Station, Texas.

APPENDIX A. TRANSITION FROM FREE-STANDING BARRIER TO PINNED BARRIER - CRASH TEST 405160-26-1 (*MASH* TEST NO. 3-21)

A.1 TEST ARTICLE DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION

The overall length of the test installation was 226 ft-5 inches. The installation was comprised of 18 12 ft-6 inch long precast concrete barrier segments that were 32 inches tall and had the standard "F" profile. The first eight barrier segments (1 to 8) were free-standing and were not anchored to the underlying concrete pavement. Barrier segments 9 and 10 were pinned using a single ³/₄ inch diameter steel pin that passed through the center inclined slotted hole in the toe of these segments. Barrier segment 11 was pinned with two ³/₄ inch diameter steel pins passing through inclined slotted holes near the ends of the barrier segment. Segments 12 through 18 were pinned to the underlying concrete pavement using two 1-1/2-inch diameter steel pins per barrier segment. These pins also used the inclined slotted holes near each end of the segments.

The precast concrete barrier segments had the F-shape profile and were 32 inches tall, 24 inches wide at the base, and 9-1/2 inches wide at the top. Horizontal barrier reinforcement consisted of eight #4 bars spaced along the height of the barrier within the vertical reinforcement. Vertical barrier reinforcement consisted of rebar stirrups of #4 bars spaced 18 inches on centers. These vertical bars were bent to conform to the F-shape barrier profile and to provide sufficient concrete cover for the faces of the barrier and the drainage scupper at the base of the barrier. For the last two vertical stirrup bars adjacent to the ends of the barrier segments, the spacing was reduced to 17-7/8 inches and 7-7/8 inches, respectively.

Adjacent precast barrier segments were connected using a pin-and-loop type connection. The loops were made of 0.75-inch diameter round stock steel. The outer diameter of the loops was 3.5 inches and they extended 2 inches outside the end of the barrier segment. The barrier connection was comprised of two sets of three loops. When installed, the distance between adjacent barrier segments was 1/4 inch. A 1-inch diameter, 30-inch long connecting pin was inserted between the loops to establish the connection. A 2-inch diameter and 1/4-inch thick washer was welded 3/4 inch from the top of the connecting pin. The pin was held in place by resting the washer on insets built into the faces of adjacent barriers.

Three 1-7/8-inch wide and 4-inch long slotted holes, inclined 40 degrees from the ground surface, were cast into the toe of each precast barrier segment. These slotted holes started from the traffic face of the barrier and exited near its bottom centerline. Two of the slotted holes were positioned 16 inches away from each end of the barrier segment and were used for anchoring the barrier to the underlying concrete pavement. The third slotted hole was positioned in the middle of the barrier segment. Other than segments 9 and 10 in the transition, the middle slotted holes were not used for anchoring.

Once the precast barrier segments were positioned in place, the slotted holes in the barrier toes were used as a guide to drill holes in the underlying concrete pavement for each of the pinning location. These holes were drilled using a 1-3/4-inch diameter drill bit. After the holes were drilled, a 1-1/2-inch diameter, 21-3/8-inch long anchoring pin was passed through each of the slotted holes at a pinning location. The diameter of the anchoring pin was reduced to 3/4

inches in the transition segments 9 through 11. The top of each anchoring pin had a $\frac{1}{2}$ -inch thick, 4-inch × 4-inch ASTM A36 steel plate cover welded to it. The plate covers were welded at a 5-degree angle from the vertical so that they matched the profile of the barrier's toe when installed. The concrete pavement underneath the barrier was unreinforced and was nominally six inches thick.

Inside the F-shape barrier segments, a 22-inch long U-shaped #4 bar was diagonally placed at the location of each slotted hole. The U-shaped bar circumvented the slot to reinforce the concrete around it and to resist pullout of the anchoring pin in the event of concrete failure in the vicinity of the slotted hole.

Drawings of the test installation are shown in figure A.1, and photographs are shown in Figure A.2.

A.2 MATERIAL SPECIFICATIONS

The F-shape temporary concrete barrier segments used in the test installation were donated by WASKEY. All rebar reinforcement was grade 60 steel material. The loops for the connecting pin, the anchoring pins, and the washers welded on top of the anchoring pins were A36 steel. The connecting pin between adjacent barrier segments was A572 grade 50 steel. Certifications for different materials used are on file at the TTI Proving Ground.

A.3 TEST DESIGNATION AND ACTUAL IMPACT CONDITIONS

MASH test 3-21 involves a 2270P vehicle weighing 5000 lb \pm 100 lb and impacting the transition at an impact speed of 62.2 mi/h \pm 2.5 mi/h and an angle of 25 degrees \pm 1.5 degrees. The target CIP was 4.17 ft upstream of the joint between the free-standing barrier and transition to the pinned down barrier. The 2005 Dodge Ram 1500 used in the test weighed 5017 lb and the actual impact speed and angle were 61.7 mi/h and 26.1 degrees, respectively. The actual impact point was 3.7 ft upstream of the joint between the free-standing barrier and transition to the pinned down barrier. Target impact severity (IS) was 115.2 kip-ft, and actual IS was 123.6 kip-ft, where not less than 8 percent is acceptable.

A.4 TEST VEHICLE

A 2005 Dodge Ram 1500 pickup truck, shown in figures A.3 and A.4, was used for the crash test. Test inertia weight of the vehicle was 5017 lb, and its gross static weight was 5017 lb. The height to the lower edge of the vehicle front bumper was 13.5 inches, and the height to the upper edge of the front bumper was 26.00 inches. The height to the center of gravity was 28.9 inches. Additional dimensions and information on the vehicle are given in tables A.1 and A.2. The vehicle was directed into the installation using the cable reverse tow and guidance system, and was released to be free-wheeling and unrestrained just prior to impact.



Figure A.1. Details of the F-shape barrier used in test 405160-26-1.



Figure A.1. Details of the F-shape barrier used in test 405160-26-1 (continued).



Figure A.1. Details of the F-shape barrier used in test 405160-26-1 (continued).



Figure A.1. Details of the F-shape barrier used in test 405160-26-1 (continued).



Figure A.1. Details of the F-shape barrier used in test 405160-26-1 (continued).



Figure A.1. Details of the F-shape barrier used in test 405160-26-1 (continued).



Figure A.2. Transition from free-standing F-shape barrier to pinned F shape barrier prior to test 405160-26-1.



Figure A.3. Vehicle/installation geometrics for test 405160-26-1.

Date: 201	1-11-16	Test No.:	405160-2	26-1	VIN No.:	1D7HA18N85	J5733	85
Year: 200	5	Make:	Dodge		Model:	Ram 1500		
Tire Size:	P245/75R1	7		Tire I	Inflation Pre	ssure: <u>35 psi</u>		
Tread Type:	Highway				Odo	meter: <u>155391</u>		
Note any dan	nage to the ve	hicle prior to t	est:					
Denotes a	ccelerometer l	ocation			W	_ X		
			1		T			
NOTES:			-					
Engine Type:	V-8		A		$\uparrow \parallel - \uparrow$		-•	TRACK
Engine CID:	4.7 liter			<u>- \</u>				
Transmission	••						TEST II	NERTIAL C.M.
<u>x</u> Auto FWD	or x RWD	_ Manual 4WD	_	- Q				
Optional Equ			P	R	- 76			
	pinona.		<u> </u>	6				
Dummy Data					A L U	G F	$\overline{()}$	
Type: Mass:	No dumr	ny		$\square \Psi$			∇	
Seat Positio	n:			M _f	H - ront	-	, M	rear
Geometry:	inches			┝╾╶╴╴╴ ┝╸╴		- C	►	- D
A <u>77.0</u>	<u> </u>	39.00	К	20.30	P	3.00	U _	27.50
B 73.2	5 G	28.88	_ L	28.75	Q	29.50	V	30.00
C <u>227.0</u>		63.51	M	68.25	_ R _	18.50	W	63.00
D 47.5		13.50	<u> </u>	67.25	S	14.25	х_	99.00
E 140.5 Wheel Cer		26.00	O Wheel We	44.75	_ T_	75.50 Bottom Frame		
Height Fr		14.125 Cle	arance (Fron		6.125	Height - Front		16.625
Wheel Cer Height R		14.25 Cle	Wheel We earance (Rea		11.25	Bottom Frame Height - Rear		24.25
GVWR Rati		Mass: Ib		<u>Curb</u>	Tost	Inertial	Groe	ss Static
Front	3650	M _{front}		2800	1630	2749	0103	
Back	3900	M _{rear}		2051		2268		
Total	6650	M _{Total}		4851		5017		
Mass Distrib	ution			(Allowa	able Range for	TIM and $GSM = 50$	00 lb ±11	10 lb)
lb	LF:	1372		1377	LR:	1153 RF	R: <u>1</u>	115

Table A.1. Vehicle properties for test 405160-26-1.

Date: 2011-11-16 Test No.: 405160-26-1 VIN: 1D7HA18N85J573385
Year: 2005 Make: Dodge Model: Ram 1500
Body Style: Quad Cab Mileage: 155391
Engine: 4.7 liter V-8 Transmission: Automatic
Fuel Level: Empty Ballast: 235 lb at front of bed (440 lb max)
Tire Pressure: Front: <u>35</u> psi Rear: <u>35</u> psi Size: <u>245/75R17</u>
Measured Vehicle Weights: (lb)
LF: <u>1382</u> RF: <u>1402</u> Front Axle: <u>2784</u>
LR: 1135 RR: 1104 Rear Axle: 2239
Left: 2517 Right: 2506 Total: 5023
Wheel Base:140.5 inchesTrack:F:68.25 inchesR:62.25 inches148 ±12 inches allowedTrack = $(F+R)/2 = 67 \pm 1.5$ inches allowedCenter of Gravity, SAE J874 Suspension Method
X: 62.63 in Rear of Front Axle (63 ±4 inches allowed)
Y: -0.07 in Left - Right + of Vehicle Centerline
Z: <u>28.875</u> in Above Ground (minumum 28.0 inches allowed)
Hood Height: <u>44.75</u> inches Front Bumper Height: <u>26.00</u> inches
Front Overhang: <u>39.00</u> inches Rear Bumper Height: <u>28.75</u> inches 39 ±3 inches allowed
Overall Length: <u>227.00</u> inches 237 ±13 inches allowed

Table A.2. Measurements of vehicle vertical CG for test 405160-26-1.

A.5 WEATHER CONDITIONS

The crash test was performed the morning of November 16, 2011. Weather conditions at the time of testing were: Wind speed: 6 mi/h; wind direction: 330 degrees with respect to the vehicle (vehicle was traveling in a northwesterly direction); temperature: 64°F; relative humidity: 97 percent.

A.6 TEST DESCRIPTION

The 2005 Dodge Ram pickup, traveling at an impact speed of 61.7 mi/h, impacted the transition 3.7 ft upstream of the joint between the free-standing barrier and transition to the pinned down barrier at an impact angle of 26.1 degrees. At approximately 0.014 s after impact, the vehicle began to redirect, and at 0.020 s, the left front tire blew out. The right front and right rear wheels became airborne at 0.097 s and 0.112 s, respectively. At 0.197 s, the vehicle was traveling parallel with the transition at a speed of 53.5 mi/h. At 0.277 s, the vehicle lost contact with the barriers and was traveling at an exit speed and angle of 50.6 mi/h and 13.1 degrees, respectively. The barriers reached maximum deflection of 39.3 inches at 0.295 s. Brakes on the vehicle were not applied, and the vehicle rolled onto its left side and came to rest 196.6 ft downstream of impact and 43.0 ft toward traffic lanes from the traffic face of the barriers. Sequential photographs of the test period are shown in figure A.4.

A.7 TEST ARTICLE AND COMPONENT DAMAGE

Damage to the transition installation is shown in figures A.5 and A.6. The upstream end of segment 2 deflected upstream 0.5 inch, and the upstream ends of segment 3 and 4 deflected upstream 1.5 inches each. Segment 5 moved upstream 2.0 inches and toward the field side 0.75 inch. Segment 6 moved upstream 6.0 inches and 1.0 inch toward the field side on the upstream end and 2.0 inches toward traffic lanes on the downstream end. Segment 7 moved upstream 2.5 inches and 1.5 inches toward traffic lanes on the upstream end and 22.0 inches toward the field side on the upstream end. Segment 8 moved 3.5 inches upstream and 22.75 inches toward the field side on the upstream end and 44.5 inches toward the field side on the upstream end and 44.5 inches toward the field side on the upstream end and 44.5 inches on the downstream end. Segment 10 deflected toward the field side 37.5 inches on the downstream end. Segment 10 deflected toward the field side 37.5 inches and 4.5 inches toward the field side. Segment 11 moved downstream 2.5 inches toward the field side. Segment 12 moved 1.5 inches downstream, and segments 13 and 14 moved 1.0 inch downstream. Working width was 5.1 ft, maximum dynamic deflection during the test was 3.7 ft, and maximum permanent deformation was 3.7 ft.



Figure A.4. Sequential photographs for test 405160-26-1 (overhead and frontal views).













0.280 s

0.240 s

0.160 s

0.200 s



After Test





Figure A.5. Vehicle/installation positions after test 405160-26-1.



Figure A.6. Installation after test 405160-26-1.

A.8 TEST VEHICLE DAMAGE

Damage to the 2270P vehicle is shown in figure A.7. The upper ball joints on the left side pulled out of the socket and the lower ball joint on the left side broke. The tie rod end broke, the left upper and lower A-arms, sway bar, and left frame rail were deformed. Also damaged were the front bumper, grill, left front fender, left front door, left rear door, left front and left rear tires and wheel rims, left exterior bed, and rear bumper. Maximum exterior crush to the vehicle was 20 inches in the side plane at the left front corner at bumper height. Maximum occupant compartment deformation was 5.0 inches in the left side floor pan. The seam opened in the left front corner of the floor pan forming a 6-inch \times 8-inch hole. Exterior vehicle crush and occupant compartment measurements are shown in tables A.3 and A.4.



Figure A.7. Vehicle after test 405160-26-1.

A.9 OCCUPANT RISK VALUES

Data from the accelerometer, located at the vehicle center of gravity, were digitized for evaluation of occupant risk. In the longitudinal direction, the occupant impact velocity was 13.8 ft/s at 0.105 s, the highest 0.010-s occupant ridedown acceleration was 6.1 Gs from 0.122 to 0.132 s, and the maximum 0.050-s average acceleration was -7.6 Gs between 0.018 and 0.068 s. In the lateral direction, the occupant impact velocity was 17.1 ft/s at 0.105 s, the highest 0.010-s occupant ridedown acceleration was 11.2 Gs from 0.139 to 0.149 s, and the maximum 0.050-s average was 9.6 Gs between 0.018 and 0.068 s. Theoretical Head Impact Velocity (THIV) was 25.2 km/h or 7.0 m/s at 0.101 s; Post-Impact Head Decelerations (PHD) was 11.5 Gs between 0.139 and 0.149 s; and Acceleration Severity Index (ASI) was 1.26 between 0.018 and 0.068 s. These data and other pertinent information from the test are summarized in figure A.8. Vehicle angular displacements and accelerations versus time traces are presented in figure A.9, and figures A.10 through A.15, respectively.

Table A.3. Exterior crush measurements for test 405160-26-1.

Date:	2011-11-16	Test No.:	405160-26-1	VIN No.:	1D7HA18N85J573385
Year:	2005	Make:	Dodge	Model:	Ram 1500

VEHICLE CRUSH MEASUREMENT SHEET				
Complete When Applicable				
End Damage	Side Damage			
Undeformed end width	Bowing: B1 X1			
Corner shift: A1	B2 X2			
A2				
End shift at frame (CDC)	Bowing constant			
(check one)	X1 + X2			
< 4 inches	2 =			
\geq 4 inches				

VEHICI E CDIICH MEACHDEMENT CHEET 1

Note: Measure C_1 to C_6 from Driver to Passenger side in Front or Rear impacts – Rear to Front in Side Impacts.

G : C		Direct I	Damage								
Specific Impact Number	Plane* of C-Measurements	Width** (CDC)	Max*** Crush	Field L**	C ₁	C_2	C ₃	C_4	C ₅	C ₆	±D
1	Front plane at bumper ht	16	12	30	12	10	9	2	1	0	-11
2	Side plane at bumper ht	16	20	58	0	4			18	20	+75
	Measurements recorded										
	in inches										

¹Table taken from National Accident Sampling System (NASS).

*Identify the plane at which the C-measurements are taken (e.g., at bumper, above bumper, at sill, above sill, at beltline, etc.) or label adjustments (e.g., free space).

Free space value is defined as the distance between the baseline and the original body contour taken at the individual C locations. This may include the following: bumper lead, bumper taper, side protrusion, side taper, etc. Record the value for each C-measurement and maximum crush.

**Measure and document on the vehicle diagram the beginning or end of the direct damage width and field L (e.g., side damage with respect to undamaged axle).

***Measure and document on the vehicle diagram the location of the maximum crush.

Note: Use as many lines/columns as necessary to describe each damage profile.



Table A.4. Occupant compartment measurements for test 405160-26-1.



General information	
Test Agency	Texas A&M Transportation Institute (TTI)
Test Standard Test No	MASH Test 3-21
TTI Test No	405160-26-1
Date	November 16, 2011
Test Article	
Туре	
Name	Transition from free-standing F-shape
	barrier to pinned F-shape barrier
Installation Length	226.4 ft
Material or Key Elements	
Sail Turns and Condition	Concrete Surface Dr.
Soil Type and Condition	Concrete Surrace, Dry
Test Vehicle	
Type/Designation	
	2005 Dodge Ram 1500 Pickup
Curb	4851 lb

Test Inertial 5017 lb

Dummy No dummy Gross Static 5017 lb

Speed	61.7 mi/h
Angle	26.1 degrees
Location/Orientation	3.7 ft upstrm of
Impact Severity	
Exit Conditions	•
Speed	50.6 mi/h
Angle	
Occupant Risk Values	
Impact Velocity	
Longitudinal	13.8 ft/s
Lateral	17.1 ft/s
Ridedown Accelerations	
Longitudinal	6.1 G
Lateral	11.2 G
THIV	25.2 km/h
PHD	11.5 G
ASI	1.26
Max. 0.050-s Average	
Longitudinal	7.6 G
Lateral	
Vertical	2.4 G

i ost-impact majectory	
Stopping Distance	. 196.5 ft dwnstrm
	43 ft twd traffic
Vehicle Stability	
Maximum Yaw Angle	. 70 degrees
Maximum Pitch Angle	. 13 degrees
Maximum Roll Angle	
Vehicle Snagging	.No
Vehicle Pocketing	. No
Test Article Deflections	
Dynamic	. 3.7 ft
Permanent	. 3.7 ft
Working Width	. 5.4 ft
Vehicle Penetration	
Vehicle Damage	
VDS	.11LFQ4
CDC	.11FLEW4
Max. Exterior Deformation	. 20.0 inches
OCDI	. LF0020000
Max. Occupant Compartment	
Deformation	.5.0 inches

Figure A.8. Summary of results for *MASH* test 3-21 on transition from free-standing F-shape barrier to pinned F-shape barrier.

Roll, Pitch, and Yaw Angles



Figure A.9. Vehicle angular displacements for test 405160-26-1.





Figure A.10. Vehicle longitudinal accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-1 (accelerometer located at center of gravity).



Y Acceleration at CG

Figure A.11. Vehicle lateral accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-1 (accelerometer located at center of gravity).





Figure A.12. Vehicle vertical accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-1 (accelerometer located at center of gravity).



X Acceleration over Rear Axle

Figure A.13. Vehicle longitudinal accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-1 (accelerometer located over rear axle).



Y Acceleration over Rear Axle

Figure A.14. Vehicle lateral accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-1 (accelerometer located over rear axle).



Z Acceleration over Rear Axle

Figure A.15. Vehicle vertical accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-1 (accelerometer located over rear axle).
A.10 ASSESSMENT OF TEST RESULTS

An assessment of the test was made based on the following applicable *MASH* safety evaluation criteria.

A.10.1 Structural Adequacy

- B. Test article should contain and redirect the vehicle or bring the vehicle to a controlled stop; the vehicle should not penetrate, underride, or override the installation although controlled lateral deflection of the test article is acceptable.
- <u>Results</u>: The transition from the free-standing F-shape barrier to pinned F-shape barrier contained and redirected the 2270P vehicle. The vehicle did not penetrate, underride, or override the installation. Maximum dynamic deflection of the barrier during the test was 3.7 ft. (PASS)

A.10.2 Occupant Risk

D. Detached elements, fragments, or other debris from the test article should not penetrate or show potential for penetrating the occupant compartment, or present an undue hazard to other traffic, pedestrians, or personnel in a work zone.

Deformation of, or intrusions into, the occupant compartment should not exceed limits set forth in Section 5.3 and Appendix E of MASH. (roof ≤ 4.0 inches; windshield = ≤ 3.0 inches; side windows = no shattering by test article structural member; wheel/foot well/toe pan ≤ 9.0 inches; forward of A-pillar ≤ 12.0 inches; front side door area above seat ≤ 9.0 inches; front side door below seat ≤ 12.0 inches; floor pan/transmission tunnel area ≤ 12.0 inches).

- Results:There were no detached elements, fragment, or other debris present to
penetrate or to show potential for penetrating the occupant compartment,
or to present hazard to others in the area. (PASS)
Maximum occupant compartment deformation was 5.0 inches in the left
front corner of the floor pan. (PASS)
- *F.* The vehicle should remain upright during and after collision. The maximum roll and pitch angles are not to exceed 75 degrees.
- <u>Results</u>: The 2270P vehicle remained upright during the collision event. However, after loss of contact, the vehicle rolled 90 degrees. (FAIL)
- I. Occupant impact velocities should satisfy the following: <u>Longitudinal and Lateral Occupant Impact Velocity</u> <u>Preferred</u> <u>30 ft/s</u> <u>Maximum</u> <u>40 ft/s</u>

<u>Results</u>: Longitudinal occupant impact velocity was 13.8 ft/s, and lateral occupant impact velocity was 17.1 ft/s. (PASS)

<i>I</i> .	Occupant ridedown accelerations should satisfy the following				
	Longitudinal and Lateral Oc	ccupant Ridedown Accelerations			
	<u>Preferred</u>	Maximum			
	15.0 Gs	20.49 Gs			

<u>Results</u>: Longitudinal ridedown acceleration was 6.1 G, and lateral ridedown acceleration was 11.2 G. (PASS)

A.10.3 Vehicle Trajectory

For redirective devices, the vehicle shall exit the barrier within the exit box (not less than 32.8 ft.

<u>Result</u>: The 2270P vehicle exited within the exit box. (PASS)

A.11 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS – CRASH TEST 405160-26-1

The transition from the free-standing F-shape barrier to pinned F-shape barrier contained and redirected the 2270P vehicle. The vehicle did not penetrate, underride, or override the installation. Maximum dynamic deflection of the barrier during the test was 3.7 ft. There were no detached elements, fragment, or other debris present to penetrate or to show potential for penetrating the occupant compartment, or to present hazard to others in the area. Maximum occupant compartment deformation was 5.0 inches in the left front corner of the floor pan. The 2270P vehicle remained upright during the collision event. However, after loss of contact, the vehicle rolled 90 degrees. Occupant risk factors were within the limits specified in *MASH*. The 2270P vehicle exited within the exit box.

Due to rollover of the vehicle, the transition from the free-standing F-shape barrier to pinned F-shape barrier did not perform acceptably according to *MASH* specifications for *MASH* test 3-21, as shown in table A.5.

Table A.5. Performance evaluation summary for MASH test 3-21 on the transition from free-standing F-shape barrierto pinned F-shape barrier in test 405160-26-1.

Tes	t Agency: Texas A&M Transportation Institute	Test No.: 405160-26-1	Test Date: 2011-11-16
	MASH Test 3-21 Evaluation Criteria	Test Results	Assessment
<u>Strı</u> A.	<u>actural Adequacy</u> Test article should contain and redirect the vehicle or bring the vehicle to a controlled stop; the vehicle should not penetrate, underride, or override the installation although controlled lateral deflection of the test article is acceptable	The transition from the pinned F-shape barrier placed on concrete to free-standing F-shape barrier placed on pavement contained and redirected the 2270P vehicle. The vehicle did not penetrate, underride, or override the installation. Maximum dynamic deflection of the barrier during the test was 3.7 ft.	1
Occ	rupant Risk		
D.	Detached elements, fragments, or other debris from the test article should not penetrate or show potential for penetrating the occupant compartment, or present an undue hazard to other traffic, pedestrians, or personnel in a work zone.	There were no detached elements, fragment, or other debris present to penetrate or to show potential for penetrating the occupant compartment, or to present hazard to others in the area.	Pass
	Deformations of, or intrusions into, the occupant compartment should not exceed limits set forth in Section 5.3 and Appendix E of MASH.	Maximum occupant compartment deformation was 5.0 inches in the left front corner of the floor pan.	Pass
F.	The vehicle should remain upright during and after collision. The maximum roll and pitch angles are not to exceed 75 degrees.	The 2270P vehicle remained upright during the collision event. However, after loss of contact, the vehicle rolled 90 degrees.	Fail
Н.	Longitudinal and lateral occupant impact velocities should fall below the preferred value of 30 ft/s, or at least below the maximum allowable value of 40 ft/s.	Longitudinal occupant impact velocity was 13.8 ft/s, and lateral occupant impact velocity was 17.1 ft/s.	Pass
Ι.	Longitudinal and lateral occupant ridedown accelerations should fall below the preferred value of 15.0 Gs, or at least below the maximum allowable value of 20.49 Gs.	Longitudinal ridedown acceleration was 6.1 G, and lateral ridedown acceleration was 11.2 G.	Pass
Veł	<u>nicle Trajectory</u> For redirective devices, the vehicle shall exit the barrier within the exit box (not less than 32.8 ft).	The vehicle exited within the exit box.	Pass



DETAILS OF PINNED BARRIER FOR TEST 405160-26-2

B.1.

1a. Barriers will be placed on un-reinforced concrete, approximately 6° - 8° thick, and connected with Connecting Pins (see sheet 6). Barriers 1-8 are free-standing, with no anchor pins. Barrier 9 will have one anchor pin in the downstream slot. Barriers 10-16 will have two pins, one in each outside slot. Place barriers and drill \emptyset 1-3/4" holes through the concrete deck, using the slots as a guide. Insert the pins and turn them so that the plate washers are as flat against the barriers as possible.

1b. Sixteen barriers at 12'6" with \approx 1" space between barriers.

	exas A&M ansportation stitute	Proving Ground - Roadside Safety and Physical Security Division				
Project 405160-2	26-2 Pinned-	Down Barrier Transition				
Drawn By GES	Scale 1:300 Sh	eet 1 of 6 Test Installation				
Approved: Nauman Sheikh:	Nauman)	Date: 2012-09-10				











B.2. SUPPORTING CERTIFICATION DOCUMENTS FOR INSTALLATION USED IN TEST 405160-26-1

MATERIAL USED

TEST NUMBER 405160-26-1

TEST NAME Pinned-down CMB Transition

DATE 2011-11-16

DATE RECEIVED	ITEM NUMBER	DESCRIPTION	SUPPLIER	HEAT #
2011-11-11	Round Stock-06	3/4'' x 20' Cold Roll	Mack Bolt & Steel	DL1110245701
2011-11-11	Round Stock-07	1-1/2'' x 20' Cold Roll	Mack Bolt & Steel	A091282
2011-11-04	Barriers-01	12'6'' CMB's	Waskey	none

The round stock above was used for the anchor pins. No paperwork was provided with the barriers or connection pins.

From: 5122953772 Date: 2009-10-23 Time 08:28:09 Page: 4

THREADED PRODUCTS, INC.	Vulcan Threaded Products 10 Cross Creek Trail Pelham, AL, 35124 Tei (205) 520-5100 Fax (205) 520-5150	Material Certification
	Namasco Southeast	
Cuetomar PO No:	AUSTIN	
Vuicen Order No:		
Order Line;		
	CDR 1018 1,5000x240	
	CDR 1018 1.5000x240	
Shloped Qty:		
	A091282	•
Grade:	1018	
Note:		
Spec No:	ASTN A108-07	
Spec Rey:	2007	
Spec Note:	This certification is actual test results perform and meets all of the chemical analysis requi	med by the Hot Roll supplying Mill on the heat number listed ined by AISI C1018-Rev (2007).
aterial Specification Type	Material Specification	Actual
iemistry	Carbon (C)	0.1600 %
	Manganese (Mn)	0.6300 %
	Manganese (Mn) Phosphorus (P)	0,6300 % 0,0050 %
	· · ·	ه
	Phosphonus (P)	D 2050 %
	Phosphorus (P) Sulfur (S)	0 0080 % 0.0190 %
	Phosphorus (P) Sulfur (\$) Sillicon (Si)	0 0060 % 0.0190 % 0.2400 %
	Phosphorus (P) Sulfur (S) Silicon (Si) Chromium (Cr)	0 0060 % 0.0190 % 0.2400 % 0.1500 %
	Phosphorus (P) Sulfur (S) Silicon (Si) Chromium (Cr) Molybdenum (Mo)	0.0060 % 0.0190 % 0.2400 % 0.1500 % 0.0420 %
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	Phosphorus (P) Sulfur (S) Silicon (Si) Chromium (Cr) Molybdenum (Mo) Nickel (Ni)	0 0060 % 0.0190 % 0.2400 % 0.1500 % 0.0400 % 0.1100 %
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	Phosphorus (P) Sulfur (S) Silicon (Si) Chromium (Cr) Molybdenum (Mo) Nickel (Ni) Vanadium (V)	D 0060 % C.0190 % C.2400 % O.1500 % C.0400 % O.1100 % O.0200 %
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -	Phosphorus (P) Sulfur (S) Silicon (Si) Chromium (Cr) Molybdarum (Mo) Nickel (Ni) Vanadium (V) Copper (Cu)	0.0050 % 0.0190 % 0.2400 % 0.1500 % 0.1500 % 0.1100 % 0.0020 % 0.2000 %
•	Phosphorus (P) Sulfur (S) Silicon (Si) Chromium (Cr) Molybdanum (Mo) Nickel (N) Vanadium (V) Copper (Gu) Aluminum (Al)	0 0060 % 0.0190 % 0.2430 % 0.1500 % 0.1500 % 0.1100 % 0.1100 % 0.0020 % 0.2000 % 0.2000 % 0.2000 %
• • •	Phosphorus (P) Sulfur (S) Silicon (Si) Chromium (Cr) Molybdenum (Mo) Nickel (Ni) Vanadium (V) Copper (Cu) Aluminum (Ai) Tin (Sn)	0 0060 % 0.0190 % 0.2430 % 0.1500 % 0.1500 % 0.1100 % 0.0020 % 0.2000 % 0.2000 % 0.2000 % 0.2000 % 0.2000 % 0.2000 % 0.2000 % 0.0230 % 0.0110 %
• • •	Phosphorus (P) Sulfur (S) Silicon (Si) Chromium (Cr) Molybdenum (Mo) Nickel (Ni) Vanadium (V) Capper (Cu) Aluminum (Al) Tin (Sn) Titanlum (Ti)	0 0060 % 0.0190 % 0.2430 % 0.1500 % 0.0430 % 0.0430 % 0.0020 % 0.2000 % 0.2000 % 0.2000 %

Plox Online 9/9/09 11:47 AM vulc.ihud Page 1

Load - 1102719 BL - 3673882 Heat - DL1110245701

17-08-2014 08:05 Mack Bolt & Steel Cust. PO - 21934

Order-Line - 6927596 / 4

Vuican Threaded Products 10 Cross Creek Trail **Material Certification** Pelham, AL:35124 Tel (205) 620-5100 Fax (205) 620-5150 THREADED PRODUCTS, INC Customer PO No: 6390280 Vulcan Order No: 126923 Order Line: 3 Vulcan Part No: CDR 1018 750x240 Customer Part No: CDR 1018 .750x240 Shipped Qty: 1408 Hest: DL1110245701 Grade: 1018 Country of Origin: USA Note: Melled and Manufactured in USA Spec No: ASTM A108-07 Spec Rev: 2007 Spec Note: This certification is actual test results performed by the Hot Roll supplying Mill on the heat number listed and meets all of the chemical analysis required by AISI-Rev (2007). Actual Material Specification Type Material Specification .16 % Carbon (C) Chemistry Manganese (Mn) 81 % Phosphorus (P) .007 % .019 % Sulfur (S) 25 % Silicon (Si) 17 % Copper (Cu) .07 % Nickel (Ni)11 % Chromium (Cr) 010 % Molybdanum (Mo) Vanadium (V) 005 % 0.0000 % Tin (Sn) Columbium (CD) 0% Columbium/Niobium (Nb) .003 % Aluminum (Al) 0.0000 % 0.0000 % Titasium (Ti) Reduction Ratio 94: t

This document certifies that the foregoing data is a true copy of the data furnished by the producing mill and test lab.

Piex Online 10/18/11 12:08 PM vuic edra Page 1

BLR466

B.3. VEHICLE PROPERTIES AND INFORMATION

Table B.1. Vehicle properties for test 405160-26-2.

Date:	2012-09-24	4	Test No.:	405160-2	26-2	VIN No.:	1DTHA18P0	7516207	5
Year:	2007		Make:	Dodge		Model:	Ram 1500		
Tire Siz	e: <u>P26</u>	5/70R17			Tire Ir	nflation Pre	ssure: <u>35 psi</u>		
Tread T	ype: <u>High</u>	way				Odo	meter: <u>12102</u>	9	
Note ar	ny damage to	the veh	icle prior to t	est:					
	otes accelero	motor lo	cation			- W	– X		
			cation.						
NOTES									
Engine	Type: V	-8		· │ M wheel ∧ │		- (•-			WHEELN TRACK T
Engine	· · · ·	7 liter							
	ission Type:								RTIAL C.M.
	Auto or FWD x	RWD	_ Manual 4WD		- Q -			/	
	al Equipment			P	+ R +				
					6				B
Dummy							G	F A	
Type: Mass:		o dumm	у					∇	
	Position:				_ √M _{frc}	H ont		↓ M _{re}	ar
Geome	try: inche	s			╺		- с <u>— — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — </u>		- D
Α	78.25	F _	36.00	К	20.50	Ρ	2.88	U	28.50
В	753.00	G _	28.12	_ L	29.12	Q _	31.25	V	29.50
C	223.75	н_	62.68	M	68.50	R _	18.38	W	60.50
D	47.25	Ι_	13.75	N	68.00	S _	12.00	X	78.00
	140.50 eel Center	J _	25.38	O Wheel We	44.50	Т_	77.50 Bottom Frame		
He	eight Front		14.75 Cle	arance (Fron	t)	5.0	Height - Front		17.125
	eel Center eight Rear		14.75 Cle	Wheel We arance (Rea		10.25	Bottom Frame Height - Rear		24.75
GVWF	R Ratings:		Mass: Ib	C	urb	Test	Inertial	Gross	s Static
Front	-	00	M _{front}	<u> </u>	2797	1030	2769	0103	<u>s otatio</u>
Back	39		M _{rear}		1999		2230		
Total		00	M _{Total}		4796		4999		
						ole Range for	TIM and GSM = 50	000 lb ±110) lb)
Mass L Ib	istribution:	LF:	1392	RF:	1377	LR:	1110 R	R: 1′	120

Date: 2012-09-24 Test No.: 405160-26-2 VIN: 1DTHA18P075162075 Year: 2007 Make: Dodge Model: Ram 1500 Body Style: Quad Cab Mileage: 121029 Engine: 4.7 liter V-8 Transmission: Automatic Fuel Level:EmptyBallast:236 lb at front of bed(440 lb max) Tire Pressure: Front: 35 psi Rear: 35 psi Size: 265/70R17 Measured Vehicle Weights: (lb) LF: 1392 RF: 1377 Front Axle: 2769 LR: 1110 RR: 1120 Rear Axle: 2230 Left: 2502 Right: 2497 Total: 5023 5000 ±110 lb allow ed Wheel Base: 140.5 inches Track: F: 68.5 inches R: 68 inches 148 ±12 inches allow ed Track = $(F+R)/2 = 67 \pm 1.5$ inches allow ed Center of Gravity, SAE J874 Suspension Method X: 62.38 in Rear of Front Axle (63 ±4 inches allow ed) Y: -0.20 in Left -Right + of Vehicle Centerline Z: 28.125 in Above Ground (minumum 28.0 inches allow ed)

Table B.2. Measurements of vehicle vertical CG for test 405160-26-2.

237 ±13 inches allowed

Table B.3. Exterior crush measurements for test 405160-26-2.

Date:	2012-09-24	Test No.:	405160-26-2	VIN No.:	1DTHA18P075162075
Year:	2007	Make:	Dodge	Model:	Ram 1500

VEHICLE CRUSH WIE	ASUKLIVIENT STILET
Complete Wh	en Applicable
End Damage	Side Damage
Undeformed end width	Bowing: B1 X1
Corner shift: A1	B2 X2
A2	
End shift at frame (CDC)	Bowing constant
(check one)	<i>X</i> 1+ <i>X</i> 2
< 4 inches	2 =
\geq 4 inches	

VEHICLE CRUSH MEASUREMENT SHEET¹

Note: Measure C_1 to C_6 from Driver to Passenger side in Front or Rear impacts – Rear to Front in Side Impacts.

a : c		Direct Damage									
Specific Impact Number	Plane* of C-Measurements	Width** (CDC)	Max*** Crush	Field L**	C ₁	C_2	C ₃	C_4	C ₅	C ₆	±D
1	Front plane at bumper ht	19	14	24	14	12.5	8.5	4	3	1	-12
2	Side plane at bumper ht	19	15	60	1	2			12	14	+72
	Measurements recorded										
	in inches										

¹Table taken from National Accident Sampling System (NASS).

*Identify the plane at which the C-measurements are taken (e.g., at bumper, above bumper, at sill, above sill, at beltline, etc.) or label adjustments (e.g., free space).

Free space value is defined as the distance between the baseline and the original body contour taken at the individual C locations. This may include the following: bumper lead, bumper taper, side protrusion, side taper, etc. Record the value for each C-measurement and maximum crush.

**Measure and document on the vehicle diagram the beginning or end of the direct damage width and field L (e.g., side damage with respect to undamaged axle).

***Measure and document on the vehicle diagram the location of the maximum crush.

Note: Use as many lines/columns as necessary to describe each damage profile.



Table B.4. Occupant compartment measurements for test 405160-26-2.

B.4. SEQUENTIAL PHOTOGRAPHS

















Figure B.1. Sequential photographs for test 405160-26-2 (overhead and frontal views).

0.162 s

0.000 s

0.054 s

0.108 s













0.324 s

0.216 s

0.270 s



Figure B.1. Sequential photographs for test 405160-26-2 (overhead and frontal views) (continued).

0.379 s



0.000 s



0.054 s



0.108 s





0.216 s



0.270 s



0.324 s



0.162 s 0.379 s Figure B.2. Sequential photographs for test 405160-26-2 (rear view).



Figure B.3. Vehicle angular displacements for test 405160-26-2.



Figure B.4. Vehicle longitudinal accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-2 (accelerometer located at center of gravity).

82

B.6. VEHICLE ACCELERATIONS



Y Acceleration at CG

Figure B.5. Vehicle lateral accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-2 (accelerometer located at center of gravity).



Z Acceleration at CG

Figure B.6. Vehicle vertical accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-2 (accelerometer located at center of gravity).



X Acceleration Rear of CG

Figure B.7. Vehicle longitudinal accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-2 (accelerometer located rear of CG).



Y Acceleration Rear of CG

Figure B.8. Vehicle lateral accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-2 (accelerometer located rear of CG).



Z Acceleration Rear of CG

Figure B.9. Vehicle vertical accelerometer trace for test 405160-26-2 (accelerometer located rear of CG).